DISCUSSION OF THE LAW

I. **THE SUPPLIES PURCHASED BY MT. STATE BIT FOR DIRECT USE IN BLASTING SERVICES PERFORMED FOR NATURAL RESOURCE PRODUCERS ARE EXEMPT FROM SALES AND USE TAX UNDER THE PRODUCER EXEMPTION BECAUSE MT. STATE BIT WAS ALSO ENGAGED IN THE PRODUCTION OF NATURAL RESOURCES BY VIRTUE OF THE SERVICES PERFORMED**

Under West Virginia Code § 11-15A-3(a)(4), property and services that are not subject to consumers sales tax are also exempt from use tax. Therefore, if property and services are exempt from consumers sales tax under the producer exemption contained in West Virginia Code § 11-15-9(g), then they are also exempt from use tax. West Virginia Code § 11-15-9(g) provides that:

Sales of property or services to persons engaged in this state in the business of manufacturing, transportation, transmission, communication or in the production of natural resources: . . . Provided, however, . . . that the exemption provided in this subsection shall apply only to services, machinery, supplies and materials **directly used or consumed in the activities** of manufacturing, transportation, transmission, communication or **the production of natural resources** in the businesses or organizations named above and shall not apply to purchases of gasoline or special fuel[.]

(emphasis added). In other words, property or services purchased by an entity engaged in the production of natural resources are exempt from use tax if the following three-prong test is satisfied:

- (1) a sale of property or services, as defined by West Virginia Code §§ 11-15-2(d) and (i);
- (2) the sale was made to a natural resource producer, as defined by West Virginia Code § 11-15-2(t); and
- (3) the property or services is then directly used or consumed in the production of natural resources.

A. Sale of Property or Service

The producer exemption applies to Mt. State Bit's blasting activities because its purchase of explosive materials constitutes a sale of property under West Virginia Code § 11-15-2(d), which provides:

"Sale," "sales," or "selling" includes any transfer of the possession or ownership of tangible personal property for a consideration, including a lease or rental, when the transfer or delivery is made in the ordinary course of the transferor's business and is made to the transferee or his agent for consumption or use or any other purpose.

Therefore, the first prong of the producer exemption is satisfied because Mt. State Bit purchased supplies for consideration in the ordinary course of its suppliers' business which supplies were directly used in providing blasting services to producers of natural resources.

B. Natural Resource Producer

The second prong of the producer exemption requires that the purchaser of the property be a natural resource producer. West Virginia Code § 11-15-2(t) provides that:

"Production of natural resources" means the performance, by either the owner of the natural resources or another, of the act or process of exploring, developing, severing, extracting, reducing to possession and loading for shipment for sale, profit or commercial use of any natural resource products and any reclamation, waste disposal or environmental activities associated therewith.

(emphasis added). In other words, an entity other than the owner of natural resources may claim the exemption if that entity participates in one or more of the activities associated with the production of natural resources set forth in West Virginia Code § 11-15-2(t). Severing is defined as "the physical removal of the natural resource from the earth or waters of this State by any means or from the waste or residue of prior mining." 110 C.S.R. 15 § 123.4.3.2. The producer exemption applies to Mt. State Bit's blasting activities because it detonates explosives to

physically remove coal deposits from the overburden and, therefore, Mt. State Bit is directly involved in the process of severing and extracting coal. Accordingly, the second prong of the producer exemption is satisfied because Mt. State Bit is a producer of natural resources under West Virginia Code § 11-15-2(t) in that it engages in the process of severing and extracting coal.

C. Directly Used or Consumed in Production of Natural Resources

The third prong of the producer exemption requires that the property purchased be directly used or consumed in the production of natural resources. West Virginia Code § 11-15-2(n)(1) provides that:

“Directly used or consumed” in the activities of manufacturing, transportation, transmission, communication or the production of natural resources means used or consumed in those activities or operations which constitute an **integral and essential part** of such activities, as contrasted with and distinguished from those activities or operations which are simply incidental, convenience or remote to such activities.

(emphasis added). West Virginia Code § 11-15-2(n)(2) sets forth an inclusive list of uses of property that constitute an integral and essential part of the production of natural resources. Mt. State Bit’s blasting activities fall under West Virginia Code § 11-15-2(n)(2)(B), which provides that property “[c]ausing a direct physical, chemical or other change upon property undergoing . . . production of natural resources” constitute an integral and essential part of the production of natural resources. The detonation of explosives causes a direct physical change to property undergoing the production of natural resources where the purpose of the detonation is to extract or sever coal. Therefore, blasting activities are an integral and essential part of the production of coal.

Mt. State Bit’s blasting activities constituted a *per se* integral and essential part of the production of natural resources. 110 C.S.R. 15 § 123.4.3.7.b.4 provides that blasting

equipment and explosives used in coal mining and processing are *per se* used in the production of natural resources and, therefore, the blasting equipment and supplies purchased by Mt. State Bit and used in providing blasting services to coal companies are exempt from sales and use tax.

Upon examination of other specific exempt and non-exempt mining activities, it is clear that the West Virginia Department of Tax and Revenue State Tax Division intended for blasting activities to be exempt from use tax. For example, it is nonsensical to exempt security, safety, drainage, communication and pollution control equipment from use tax, but not blasting equipment and explosives used to remove the overburden from coal deposits. *See* 110 C.S.R. 15 § 123.4.3.7.a.1-3; 123.4.3.7.b.3, 8 and 11. Likewise, it is apparent that blasting equipment and explosives do not share common characteristics with activities and items that are non-exempt from use tax such as office supplies, janitorial supplies, reference materials or consultant services. *See* 110 C.S.R. 15 § 123.4.3.6.a.3, 4, 7 and 13. It is inconsistent with the spirit in which the direct use exemption was drafted for its application to result in water treatment facilities receiving an exemption from sales and use tax while entities that provide explosives and blasting services be forced to remit sales and use tax on its materials. In other words, the Legislature did not intend for those who treat settlement ponds twice a year to be deemed an integral and essential part of the coal mining process while the operations of those who provide explosives and blasting services to remove the overburden from coal deposits be treated as incidental and remote to the coal mining process and, as a result, subject to sales and use tax. Therefore, it is clear that the West Virginia Department of Tax and Revenue State Tax Division intended to exempt blasting equipment and

explosives from use tax because it constitutes a more integral and essential part of the production of natural resources than other activities and items specifically exempt from use tax and, furthermore, blasting equipment and explosives do not share any common characteristics with the activities and items that the West Virginia Department of Tax and Revenue State Tax Division has found to be specifically non-exempt from use tax.

Although the statutory law of other jurisdictions differs from that of West Virginia, it should be noted that courts within these jurisdictions have consistently held that explosives and blasting services are directly used in the production of natural resources for sales and use tax exemption purposes. Apex Powder Corp. v. Peck, 162 Ohio St. 189, 122 N.E.2d 693 (1954); J.D. Lamison Drilling Co., Inc v. Pennsylvania, 63 Pa. Commw. 155, 437 A.2d 1050 (1981); Pennsylvania v. R.G. Johnson Co., 495 Pa. 256, 433 A.2d 465 (1981); International Salt Co. v. New York State Tax Commission, 79 A.D.2d 343, 437 N.Y.S.2d 757 (1981).

In summary, Mt. State Bit is *per se* exempt from the assessed use tax under the producer exemption because Mt. State Bit is a natural resource producer who purchased blasting supplies from out-of-state vendors and those supplies were directly used in the production of natural resources in that they were an integral and essential part of the process to sever and extract coal. Furthermore, the exemption of blasting equipment and explosives from use tax is consistent with the overall spirit of the regulations promulgated by the West Virginia Department of Tax and Revenue State Tax Division in its determination of exempt and non-exempt coal mining activities and materials.

II. MT. STATE BIT'S BLASTING SERVICES ARE EXEMPT FROM SALES AND USE TAX UNDER THE CONTRACTOR EXEMPTION BECAUSE IT PROVIDED THESE SERVICES AS AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR TO COAL COMPANIES ENGAGED IN THE PRODUCTION OF NATURAL RESOURCES

As previously discussed, property and services that are exempt from consumers sales tax are also exempt from use tax. W.Va. Code § 11-15A-3(a)(4). Therefore, contracting services that are exempt from sales tax under West Virginia Code § 11-15-8a are also exempt from use tax. West Virginia Code § 11-15A-3(a)(4) provides that:

The provisions of this article shall not apply to contracting services. However, purchases by a contractor of tangible personal property or taxable services for use or consumption in the providing of contracting services shall be taxable beginning the first day of March, one thousand nine hundred eight-nine, except as otherwise provided in this article.

In other words, services provided by contractors are exempt from sales and use tax, but purchases of property or services made by a contractor and used in providing the contracting services are subject to tax. However, the services of contractors engaged in the production of natural resources, as well as supplies purchased by contractors and directly used or consumed in the production of natural resources are exempt from the sales and use tax. 110 C.S.R. 15 § 8a.4.1 provides, in part, that:

Contract miners and other persons engaged by the producer of natural resources (as defined for severance tax purposes) to perform any reclamation, waste disposal or environmental activities associated with the production of natural resources are treated as engaging in the activity of producing natural resources with respect to such activities for consumers sales and service tax and use tax purposes. Purchases directly used or consumed in the production of natural resources are exempt from tax as provided in Section 9.4.1 of these regulations.

Therefore, Mt. State Bit's blasting services are exempt from sales and use tax because it contracted with producers of natural resources to perform services associated with the production of natural resources.

Additionally, Mt. State Bit is a "contract miner" engaged in the production of natural resources and, as a result, its blasting services are not subject to the sales and use tax. "A contract miner or cutter is a person engaged as an independent contractor in producing natural resources which are owned by others." 110 C.S.R. 15 § 123.4.3.5. It is undisputed that Mt. State Bit performed blasting services for coal companies as an independent contractor and that the coal companies owned, leased or otherwise controlled by the coal being produced. Furthermore, as previously set forth above, Mt. State Bit is engaged in the production of natural resources because its blasting services are an integral and essential part of severing and extracting coal. Therefore, Mt. State Bit is a contractor engaged in the production of natural resources and, as a result, its services are exempt from sales and use tax.

CONCLUSION