---

NO. 032340

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

## ARGUMENT

Despite the Appellant's numerous and varied attempts to paint itself as a producer of natural resources, the statute in question is neither vague nor ambiguous and clearly expresses the intention of the legislature regarding which taxpayers should receive the benefit of the producer's exemption. West Virginia Code Section 11-15-2t (1987 and 1991 volumes) defines the production of natural resources as "the performance, by either the owner of the natural resources or another, of the act or process of exploring, developing, severing, extracting, reducing to possession AND loading for shipment for sale, profit or commercial use of any natural resource products and any reclamation, waste disposal or environmental activities associated therewith." W. Va. Code § 11-15-2(t) (1987 and 1991 volumes) and W. Va. Code § 11-15-2(o) (1995 volume). (Emphasis added.)

The Appellant's invocation of Legislative intent does not assist it in this argument. The statute at issue is neither vague nor ambiguous. "[C]ourts must presume that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there." Martin v. Randolph County Bd. of Educ., 465 S.E.2d 399, 195 W.Va. 297 (W.Va. 1995) (quoting Connecticut Nat'l Bank v. Germain, 503 U.S. 249, 253-54, 112 S.Ct. 1146, 1149, 117 LED.2d 391, 397 (1992)).

Additional weight is lent to this argument by the Legislature's use of the conjunctive "and" along with a review of all the words that are co-joined by the word "and" "[a]nd' is a conjunction connecting words or phrases, expressing the idea that the latter is to be **added to or taken along** with the first; in its conjunctive sense the word 'and' is used to co-join words, clauses or sentences, expressing the relation of addition or connection, and signifying that something is to follow in addition to that which proceeds, and its use implies that the connected elements must be grammatically coordinate, as where the elements preceding and succeeding the word 'and' refer to

the same subject matter." Expedited Transp. Systems, Inc. v. Vieweg, 529 S.E.2d 110, 207 W.Va. 90, (W.Va. 2000) (citing Black's Law Dictionary 79 (5th Ed.1979))(emphasis added). It is no coincidence that in drafting West Virginia Code Section 11-15-2(t) the Legislature included every step in the production of natural resources, from exploring to shipment. Clearly, the Legislature meant that the exemption is reserved for those entities that do **all** of the activities associated with producing natural resources, not some of them. The regulations promulgated by the Department of Tax and Revenue also lend strength to this argument. Section 123.4.3, subsections 4 and 5 of Title 110, Series 15 of the Code of State Rules discuss those entities that are exempt for the direct use tax, including contract miners. Subsection 4 begins by stating "persons **subject to the severance tax** are exempt on all purchases made by them for use in severance activities." 110 C.S.R. 15, § 123.4.3.4. Subsection 5 discusses when contract miners are to be considered engaged in the production of natural resources, stating "contract miners or cutters are considered to be engaged in the production of natural resources and their purchases are subject to the direct use concept when engaged in the activities outlined in Section 123.4.3 of these regulations." Id. at subsection 5. Section 123.4.3 contains the same definition of a producer of natural resources as is contained in Code Section 11-15-2(t)*supra*. Clearly, the regulations associated with the production of natural resources and those entities who would benefit from tax exemptions as a result of that status mirror the same legislative intent as the statutory enactments. The whole point of the legislative and regulatory scheme is to give the tax benefits to those entities who pay severance tax, i.e., the owners or other parties who actually produce natural resources, **including** taking possession of the resource and selling it or using it. It is precisely to prevent the arguments being raised by the Appellant that the Legislature and the Department of Tax and Revenue drafted the laws in question with the inclusion of the much debated

“and.” The point is to prevent a business similarly situated as the Appellant from **occasionally** (as the record below clearly shows) assisting an entity that does pay severance tax, turning around and receiving the same tax benefits without paying the severance tax.

Assuming arguendo that there was some ambiguity in the West Virginia Code Section 11-15-2(t), nonetheless, this Honorable Court has stated on numerous occasions that deference must be shown to administrative bodies charged with the implementation of the statute in question. *See Lincoln County Board of Education v. Adkins*, 188 W.Va. 430, 424 S.E.2d 775 (1992). When faced with a problem of statutory construction, the circuit court and this Court should give some deference to the interpretation of the officer who is charged with statutory implementation. *See Boley v. Miller*, 187 W.Va. 242, 418 S.E.2d 352 (1992). (Interpretations of statutes by bodies charged with their administration are given great weight unless clearly erroneous.)

This Honorable Court has in the past indicated that because of frequent inaccurate and interchangeable statutory use of the words “and” and “or,” courts should be free to change the usage, **but only when necessary to harmonize the provisions of a statute, to save it from unconstitutionality, or to effectuate the obvious intention of the legislature.** *See Carper v. Kanawha Banking & Trust Co.*, 157 W.Va. 477, 207 S.E.2d 897 (1974)(emphasis added). In this case the obvious intention of the Legislature, as discussed above, would be turned on its head by the insertion of the word “or” into West Virginia Code Section 11-15-2(t).

In summation, the Appellants entire argument can be boiled down to its assertion that the Legislature intended for it to call itself for tax purposes, a “producer of natural resources.” The Appellant wants to achieve this designation despite the fact that the statute in question is clear and unambiguous and despite the fact that 90% of its business is sales of equipment. It is only

occasionally that the Appellant even assists the actual producers of natural resources. Of course, the Appellant does not pay the severance tax. The Appellant and entities similarly situated are precisely why the Legislature drafted the law as written; they don't produce natural resources, they occasionally assist those who do, and they are not subject to the severance tax.

### CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above and in its previously filed Response to Petition, the Department of Tax and Revenue requests that this Honorable Court affirm the decision of the Circuit Court of Monongalia County. The Appellee requests such other general relief as this Honorable Court deems just and proper.